#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COT 24 1798

JAMES	EDWARDS,	:

GLERK SUPREME COURT By

Petitioner,

Shief Deputy Clark

VS.

Case No. 93,880

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

# TOPICAL

# STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 pt.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 9, 1996, the State Attorney for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit, in and for Sarasota County, Florida, filed a two-count information against the Petitioner, James Edwards, Jr. The information alleged on or about September 21, 1996, Mr. Edwards had committed aggravated child abuse with a deadly weapon in violation of section 827.03(1), Florida Statutes (1995); and aggravated child abuse in violation of section 827.03(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1995). (V1/R72-73)

On March 3, 1997, Mr. Edwards entered a no contest plea to both charges. (V1/R91,153-166) The record does not indicate that Mr. Edwards has ever filed a motion to withdraw the plea. The trial court held a sentencing hearing on March 27, 1997. (V1/R1-59) Mr. Edwards argued for a downward departure from the sentencing guidelines to the trial court. (V1/R3) The sentencing guidelines range was 98.25 to 163.75 months. (V1/R103-104) Mr. Edwards agreed the sentencing guidelines scoresheet was accurate. (V1/R3-4)

The trial court refused to depart and sentenced Mr. Edwards to concurrent terms of 131 months in state prison on each count to be followed by two concurrent terms of three years of probation on each count. (V1/R57-58, 126-128, 130-133) The total sentence on each count (approximately 14 years) is within the statutory maximum of 15 years for the second-degree felony of aggravated child abuse. See section 827.03, Florida Statutes (1995), and section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1995). The trial court also imposed certain

conditions of probation--some were announced orally and others were not. (V1/R57, 132-133) Mr. Edwards filed a timely notice of appeal on April 24, 1997. (V1/R134)

On appeal the only issue raised was the erroneous imposition of certain probation conditions that were special conditions yet were not orally announced.

On June 10, 1998, the Second District affirmed Petitioner's appeal but certified the following question to this Court as was certified in Williams v. State, 700 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997):

SHOULD THE REQUIREMENT THAT A DEFENDANT PAY FOR DRUG TESTING BE TREATED AS A GENERAL CONDITION OF PROBATION FOR WHICH NOTICE IS PROVIDED BY SECTION 948.09(6), FLORIDA STATUTES (1995), OR SHOULD IT BE TREATED AS A SPECIAL CONDITION THAT REQUIRES ORAL ANNOUNCEMENT?

It is to be noted that the Second District had reversed the sentence and the State had to pursue the certified question in Williams.

On June 4, 1998, this Court issued a decision in <u>State v. Williams</u>, Case No. 91,655 (Fla. June 4, 1998), and answered the certified question "by holding that the requirement that a defendant pay for drug testing is a special condition of probation which the trial court must pronounce orally at sentencing, and we approve the decision below." Based on this Court's decision in <u>Williams</u>, Petitioner timely filed a Motion for Rehearing with the Second District on June 15, 1998. On August 27, 1998, the motion for rehearing was denied without any explanation. On August 31,

1998, Petitioner timely filed his Notice to Invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Inasmuch as this Court has already answered the certified question in this case in Petitioner's favor, the only reason Petitioner can give for the Second District's failure to reverse Petitioner's case for resentencing must be Petitioner's failure to raise the issue at the trial level. Such an error as unpronounced probation conditions should be reversed when raised for the first time on direct appeal as a fundamental sentencing error or as an error based on ineffective assistance of counsel that can be raised on the direct appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Undersigned counsel has consulted with counsel for Williams in <u>State v. Williams</u>, Case No. 91,655 (Fla. June 4, 1998), and learned that Williams' sentencing took place before the Criminal Appeal Reform Act became effective on July 1, 1996.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

SHOULD THE REQUIREMENT THAT A DEFENDANT PAY FOR DRUG TESTING BE TREATED AS A GENERAL CONDITION OF PROBATION FOR WHICH NOTICE IS PROVIDED BY SECTION 948.09(6), FLORIDA STATUTES (1995), OR SHOULD IT BE TREATED AS A SPECIAL CONDITION THAT REQUIRES ORAL ANNOUNCEMENT?

In <u>State v. Williams</u>, Case No. 91,655 (Fla. June 4, 1998), this Court answered the above certified question by holding "that the requirement that a defendant pay for drug testing is a special condition of probation which the trial court must pronounce orally at sentencing." Thus, although the Second District knew the above certified question had been answered by this Court, it continued to certify the same question as set forth in <u>Williams</u> without altering it and without granting Mr. Edwards any relief. The only conclusion that can be reached is that Mr. Edwards was denied relief in spite of the <u>Williams</u> decision given by this Court because the unpronounced special probation conditions were not first attacked on the trial level. Thus, the certified question in this case should be modified to:

WHEN SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF PROBATION THAT MUST BE ORALLY ANNOUNCED AT SENTENCING ARE NOT ORALLY ANNOUNCED, CAN THEIR IMPOSITION ON THE WRITTEN SENTENCE BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL?

In his direct appeal Mr. Edwards attacked three special conditions of probation that were not orally announced but wound up on the written judgment and sentence:

Condition (2) of the "Order of Probation" indicates that Mr. Edwards must pay a surcharge of \$3.28 per month towards the cost of his supervision. The trial court did not orally announce that Mr. Edwards was responsible for this discretionary cost and failed to cite any statutory authority for it. Therefore, it must be stricken. Felix v. State, 709 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); Reyes v. State, 655 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

Likewise, condition (10) indicates Mr. Edwards is responsible for a 4% processing fee on every payment he makes. As with the surcharge in condition (2), the trial court failed to orally announce this fee or cite any authority for it. It must be stricken as well. Felix; Powell v. State, 681 So. 2d 722 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); Reyes.

The portion of condition (12) that requires Mr. Edwards to pay for any drug and alcohol tests is not a standard condition of probation authorized by section 948.03, Florida Statutes (1995), or Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.986. As the court failed to orally announce this portion of condition (12), it must be stricken. Williams.

Since it has been determined that it was error to impose such special conditions of probation without announcing them, the only question remaining is whether such an issue can be raised for the first time on direct appeal. This issue is one of several that falls under a much larger category—what sentencing errors can be raised on a direct appeal in light of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996. The district courts of appeal are all over the map in this area, and even the individual panels within each district

court are setting forth inconsistent results. Thus, Mr. Edwards' case--even though the certified question set forth in his Second District opinion has been answered by this Court--needs to be decided by this Court. He is entitled to have his sentence reversed and corrected as either fundamental error or error obvious on the face of the record caused by ineffective assistance of counsel.

As noted above, the district courts of appeal are having a difficult time trying to decide what to do with obvious sentencing errors that have not been preserved:

First District: Neal v. State, 688 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), rev.denied, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1997), refused to review an improper departure issue not preserved for appeal but did find fundamental error the improper imposition of attorney fees issue raised for the first time on direct appeal. Mason v. State, 710 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), reversed a sentence it described as illegal in that it exceeded the statutory maximum period. Because an illegal sentence constitutes fundamental error, the sentence was remanded for correction. The sentencing error was not raised on Dodson v. State, 710 So. 2d 159 (Fla. 1st DCA the trial level. 1998), held that the attorney lien was fundamental error that could be addressed for the first time on appeal and then certified the question as to whether such an issue can be raised for the first time on appeal. Seven days later in Matthews v. State, 714 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), the Court held that the cost issue that had not been preserved could not be raised on direct appeal.

However, six days after Matthews in Mike v. State, 708 So. 2d 1042 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), the Court held attorney fees and costs that had been wrongfully imposed could be raised and addressed for the first time on the direct appeal. In Speights v. State, 711 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), the appellant was wrongfully habitualized to a 22-year sentence when the felony used as a predicate to classify the appellant as a habitual violent felony offender was not one of the felonies statutorily authorized to be a predicate offense. No objection was made at the trial level, yet the error The court denied relief due to a lack of preservation for review but certified the question as to whether such a sentencing error can be raised and corrected on the direct appeal without preservation. The court had a problem with an "illegal" sentence being beyond the statutory maximum that constitutes fundamental error and a habitualized sentence where the sentence falls within the statutory maximum for habitualized sentences, but is beyond the non-habitualized statutory maximum, and the habitualization is erroneous on its face.

Second District: In Denson v. State, 711 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), the court examined the issue of unpreserved sentencing issues in light of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act. The appellant had one preserved sentencing issue and two serious unpreserved sentencing issues. The court questioned the constitutionality of a statute designed 'to unreasonably restrict the court's scope or standard of review when due process and the orderly administration of justice require the court review such issues.' Id. at 1228.

The court noted that since it already had jurisdiction over a criminal appeal because of a properly preserved issue, it was not avoiding a "frivolous appeal" or achieving "efficiency by ignoring serious, patent sentencing errors. Limiting our scope or standard of review in these circumstances is not only inefficient and dilatory, but also risks the possibility that a defendant will be punished in clear violation of the law." Id. at 1228, 1229. Denson went on to note that the legislature's definition of "fundamental error" and the court's definition were very different. Under the Criminal Reform Act the concept of "fundamental error" was much narrower than the court's definition; and even though Denson did not reach the issue, the court noted that "the Fifth District may be correct in concluding that no sentencing error is fundamental for purposes of this new act." Id. at 1229. The court then cites to Maddox v. State, 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). Denson then went on to note several policy reasons for an appellate court to deal with sentencing issues at hand instead of ignoring them:

> As tempting as it may be to wash our hands of every unpreserved sentencing error on direct appeal, we are troubled by a rule which would require us to close our eyes when a serious error is obvious in the record. This court has held that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) cannot be used to review a sentencing error that could have been raised on direct appeal but for the failure to file a motion pursuant to rule 3.800(b). Chojnowski, 705 So. 2d at 915. Prisoners are entitled to legal representation on direct appeal, but not in most postconviction proceedings. See §924.051(9), .066(3). At least until our newly revised rules of appeal for sentencing errors have been fully delineated,

there is a real risk that serious sentencing errors, raising significant due process concerns, may not be corrected or may not be corrected in time to provide meaningful relief to a prisoner filing pro se motions if they cannot be corrected with the assistance of counsel on direct appeal.

If a goal of criminal appeal reform is efficiency, we are hard pressed to argue that this court should not order correction of an illegal sentence or a facial conflict between oral and written sentences on a direct appeal when we have jurisdiction over other issues. Although it is preferable for the trial courts to correct their own sentencing errors, little is gained if the appellate courts require prisoners to file, and trial courts to process, more postconviction motions to correct errors that can be safely identified on direct appeal. Both Mr. Denson and the Department of Corrections need legal written sentences that accurately reflect the trial court's oral ruling. We conclude that our scope and standard of review in a criminal case authorizes us to order correction of such a patent error.

Efficiency aside, appellate judges take an oath to uphold the law and the constitution of this state. The citizens of this state properly expect these judges to protect their When reviewing an appeal with a preserved issue, if we discover that a person has been subjected to a patently illegal sentence to which no objection was lodged in the trial court, neither the constitution nor our own consciences will allow us to remain silent and hope that the prisoner, untrained in the law, will somehow discover the error and request its correction. If three appellate judges, like a statue of the "see no evil, hear no evil, speak no evil" monkeys, declined to consider such serious, patent errors, we would jeopardize the public's trust and confidence in the institution of courts of Under separation of powers, we conclude that the legislature is not authorized to restrict our scope or standard of review in an unreasonable manner that eliminates our judicial discretion to order the correction of illegal sentences and other serious, patent sentencing errors. 13

<sup>13</sup> To avoid any confusion, we do not regard typical errors concerning costs, conditions of probations, or jail credit as falling within this description.

Denson, 711 So. 2d at 1229, 1230. Denson did not involve the kind of sentencing errors involved in Mr. Edwards' case--i.e., improperly imposed probation conditions and costs, but 3 months later in Fortner v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1907 (Fla. 2d DCA August 14, 1998), the court reversed an illegal sentence but declined to consider the remaining issues because they were not fundamental or serious sentencing errors. However, in Fisher v. State, 709 So. 2d 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), and Benton v. State, 708 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), the court reversed special conditions of probation that were not orally pronounced at sentencing (Benton and Fisher) and a fine and cost that was imposed without oral pronouncement (Benton) on the direct opinion. Although the date of sentencing is not mentioned in either opinion, both cases were handled by attorneys in undersigned counsel's office and both sentences were after July 1, 1996.

Third District: In Mizell v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1978 (Fla. 3d DCA Aug. 26, 1998), the court refused--at least at this point--to join in on the "fratricidal warfare" as to what sentencing issues are fundamental and can be raised for the first time on direct appeal. Instead, when faced with an obvious and state-conceded sentencing error (14 year sentence imposed on a misdemeanor), the court found ineffective assistance of counsel on the face of the record and remanded for resentencing. In this way the court avoided "the legal churning...which would be required if we made

the parties and the lower court do the long way what we ourselves should do the short. Thus, we agree with Maddox, 708 So. 2d at 621, that the lack of preservation in the sentencing area necessarily involves ineffective assistance of counsel, but strongly disagree that anything is accomplished by not dealing with the matter at once." Mizell, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1979. Of particular note is footnote 1:

It is ironic that, although this amendment to the Florida Appellate Rules, and, more to the point, the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, ch.96-248, Laws of Fla.; §924.051, Fla.Stat. (Supp. 1996), which engendered it, were largely meant to reduce a supposedly oppressive appellate caseload, they have had quite the opposite effect. In addition to creating an entirely new and difficult body of law of its own--including en banc consideration and certified questions of such arcane matters as whether an unpreserved error should result in affirmance or dismissal, Thompson v. State, 708 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) -- the Act has, as in this very case, required a resort to creative judging to achieve results which had been routinely and straightforwardly arrived at before. We will not resist the urge to refer to the relative merits of the cure and the disease or to observe that one should not repair something that is in no need thereof.

Mizell, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1979.

Fourth District: In Louisgeste v. State, 706 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), the court held that the appellate court may consider the imposition of a public defender's fee without preservation of the issue in the trial court. In Harriel v. State, 710 So. 2d 102 at 104 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), the en banc court said in dicta that illegal sentences that exceed the statutory maximum may be raised at any time and noted conflict with Maddox on this issue. Finally,

in <u>Hyden v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1342 (Fla. 4th DCA June 3, 1998), the en banc court receded from <u>Louisgeste</u>, affirmed the dicta in <u>Harriel</u> as to an illegal sentence being fundamental error, and held that from now on "[i]n this district, we will no longer entertain on appeal the correction of sentencing errors which are not properly preserved." <u>Hyden</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1342. The decision in <u>Hyden</u> was written "to impress upon the criminal bar of this district the essential requirement of the new Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d)." <u>Hyden</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1342.

Our strict enforcement of Rule 9.140(d) should have the effect of alerting the criminal bar of the absolute necessity for reviewing the sentencing orders when received to determine whether correction is necessary. If they do not, relief will not be afforded on appeal. thus, counsel's duties do not end with the pronouncement of the sentence. Trial counsel can no longer rely on appellate counsel to request correction of errors in the appellate court.

Id.

Fifth District: Maddox v. State, 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), has come to stand for this court's position on sentencing errors and the Criminal Appeal Reform Act. This en banc decision clearly states:

that <u>no</u> sentencing error can be considered in a direct appeal unless the error has been "preserved" for review, <u>i.e.</u> the error has been presented to and ruled on by the trial court. This is true regardless of whether the error is apparent on the face of the record. And it applies across the board to defendants who plead and to those who go to trial. As

for the "fundamental error" exception, it now appears clear, given the recent rule amendments, that "fundamental error" no longer exists in the sentencing context.

<u>Id</u>. at 619. The court receded from several of its earlier opinions in <u>Maddox</u> and stated that this "policy decision" would relieve the workload of the appellate courts while placing the correction of errors on the trial court. The court concluded with a belief that the defendant would not be harmed:

Certainly, there is little risk that a defendant will suffer an injustice because of this new procedure; if any aspect of a sentencing is "fundamentally" erroneous and if counsel fails to object at sentencing or file a motion within thirty days in accordance with the rule, the remedy of ineffective assistance of counsel will be available. It is hard to imagine that the failure to preserve a sentencing error that would formerly have been characterized as "fundamental" would not support an "ineffective assistance" claim.

Id. at 621. <u>Maddox</u> is presently pending before this Court in <u>Maddox v. State</u>, Case No. 92,805. The court in <u>Hyden</u> agreed with part of the <u>Maddox</u> opinion.

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