**ORIGINAL**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

OCT 30 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By B. J. R.  
Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES EDWARDS,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 93,880

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM  
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
STATE OF FLORIDA

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH**  
**ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**ROBERT J. KRAUSS**  
**Senior Assistant Attorney General**  
**Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa**  
Florida Bar No. 238538

**RONALD NAPOLITANO**  
**Assistant Attorney General**  
Florida Bar No. 175130  
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700  
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366  
(813) 873-4739

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

Section 924.051(b)(4) is directed toward the same end but is worded in a slightly differently. In so far as it says that a defendant who pleads nolo contendere or guilty without expressly reserving the right to review a legally dispositive issue cannot appeal the judgment, we believe that the principle in *Robinson* controls. A defendant must have the right to appeal that limited class of issues described in *Robinson*.

There remains, however, another problem. Section 924.051(b)(4) also states that a defendant pleading guilty without expressly reserving the right to appeal a legally dispositive issue cannot appeal the sentence. However, a defendant has not yet been sentenced at the time of the plea. Obviously, one cannot expressly reserve a sentencing error which has not yet occurred. By any standard, this is not a reasonable condition to the right to appeal. Therefore, we construe this provision of the Act to permit a defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere without reserving a legally dispositive issue to nevertheless appeal a sentencing error, providing it has been timely preserved by a motion to correct the sentence. (Citations omitted) (Emphasis added)

Accordingly, we have rewritten rule 9.140 to accomplish the objectives set forth above. Consistent with the Legislature's philosophy of attempting to resolve more issues at the trial court level, we are also promulgating Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.170(L), which authorizes the filing of a motion to withdraw the plea after sentencing within thirty days from the rendition of sentence, but only upon the grounds recognized by *Robinson*, or otherwise provided by law.

696 So.2d at 1105)

The Court, in Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 685 So.2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 1996), as stated above, amended Fla. R. Crim. 3.170, which amendment became effective January 1, 1997, adding a new subsection (L) which reads:

(L) Motion to Withdraw the Plea After Sentencing. A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere without expressly reserving the right to appeal a legally dispositive issue may file a motion to withdraw the plea within 30 days after the rendition of sentence, but only upon the grounds specified in Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.140(b)(2)(B)(I-v)

In the instant case, petitioner cannot raise the issue of the trial court's failure to announce special conditions of probation because he did not bring this alleged sentencing error to the attention of the trial court by filing a motion to correct sentencing error pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro 3.800(b) as required by Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.140(d) (1997). Since the issue was not properly preserved for appeal, the appellate courts should not address the issue and rule that it is procedurally barred from review on direct appeal. Hyden v. State, 715 So.2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) *en banc*.; See generally Maddox v. State, 708 So.2d 617) *en banc*.

Aside from the Fourth and Fifth DCA *en banc* decisions, respondent acknowledges that the other district courts of appeal have issued contradicting decisions by different panels within each district. Petitioner quotes extensively from the decision of the Second District Court of Appeals in Denson v. State, 711 So.2d

1225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). Although the court in Denson, *id.*, reach the merits of the unpreserved sentencing errors in that case, it did so only because it believed it could do so because it already had jurisdiction because of other preserved errors. *Id.* at 1226. The Second District did not reach the issue of whether any sentencing error could be raised on direct appeal if not preserved if the appellate court did not already have jurisdiction based upon some other preserved issue. Had the Second District reached that issue it is clear that at least the panel in Denson would have found that the issue was not preserved FOR review on direct appeal. As the court stated therein:

...The error which the legislature is describing in section 924.051(3) is an error that is not merely correctable on direct appeal without preservation, but it is an error that is so egregious and without alternative remedy that it warrants the appellate court exercising jurisdiction in the case solely FOR the purpose of correcting that error. So defined, there is little question that "fundamental error" for purposes of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act is a narrower species of error than some of the errors previously described as fundamental in case law. Because the sentencing errors in this case could have been challenged by a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) prior to appeal and because they may still be challenged by postconviction motions, neither of the sentencing errors in this case fits within this definition of fundamental error.<sup>11</sup> Indeed, although we do not reach the issue, the Fifth District may be correct in concluding that no sentencing error is fundamental FOR purposes of this new act. See Maddox, 708 So. 2d at 618. Without a preserved error, these unpreserved sentencing errors would not give us jurisdiction over this appeal.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>11</sup> Because the oral/written discrepancy in this case is intertwined with the illegal sentence, it is clear that it can be corrected in conjunction with the illegal sentence. Cf. *Middleton*, 689 So.2d at 304 (erroneous habitual offender sentence not fundamental error and not reviewable on direct appeal under act). Minor sentencing errors are not fundamental even when it is unlikely that they can be corrected by postconviction motion. See *Mason v. State*, 698 So.2d 914 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (\$1000 cost item not orally announced is not fundamental error under act).

<sup>12</sup> Although we agree with much of the discussion in *Harriel v. State*, 710 So.2d 102 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), our decision conflicts with *Harriel* in holding that an illegal sentence is not fundamental for purposes of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act. Although illegal sentences may be corrected "any time," because the place for that correction is in the trial court pursuant to rule 3.800(a), we cannot conclude that they are fundamental errors giving jurisdiction to the district courts of appeal to review these issues on direct appeal as a matter of right.

*Id.* at 1229 (Emphasis added)

Furthermore, although the Second District reached the merits of the unpreserved sentencing errors in *Denson* because it believed it could do so since it already had jurisdiction because of other preserved errors, it specifically stated in footnote 13 that:

To avoid any confusion, we do not regard typical errors concerning costs, conditions of probation, or jail credit as falling within this description.

*Id.* at 1230 (emphasis added)

Petitioner, after analyzing the decisions of the different district courts goes on to argue that discretionary costs and spe-

cial conditions of probation are not caught by trial counsel because they since they are not orally pronounced counsel is aware that they are being imposed in the written sentencing documents and there is no trial transcript made of the sentencing hearing because trial counsel is unaware of the need for it. What petitioner fails to to recognize is that this Court recognized this problem. In Amendments to Florida Rule of Appellate procedure 9.020(g) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, 675 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 1996), this Court originally provided for a 10 day period to file a motion to correct a sentencing error - "to correct the sentence or order of probation " - after sentence is rendered and furthermore stated that if such a motion is filed the motion is not effected by the filing of any notice of appeal. In Amendments to the Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure, 686 So.2d at 1105, this court extended the time period such a motion to 30 because it recognized the problems of delay in attorneys receiving copies of sentencing orders and that many attorneys were ordering expedited transcripts of sentencing hearings at additional cost to the state. Contrary to petitioner's argument, it is clear that defense attorneys are aware of the problem of unannounced costs and conditions of probation or even discrepancies between oral pronouncements and written orders and that is why this Court extended the time to 30 days to file the motion to correct sentence under 3.800(b). Petitioner is now telling this Court to allow district courts of appeal to ignore the procedural requirements

this Court has said is necessary to preserve sentencing issues for review on direct appeal. This Court should not do so.

In addition to to the safeguards that this Court has provided by enacting rule 3.800 (b), criminal defendants also have the right independent of 3.800(b) to file a 3.800(a) motion to correct an "illegal" sentence at any time, and if such a motion is filed while a direct appeal is pending, the trial court retains jurisdiction to correct such an error while an appeal is pending. See *Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.600 (1997)*:

RULE 9.600. JURISDICTION OF LOWER TRIBUNAL  
PENDING REVIEW

\* \* \* \*

(d) Criminal Cases. The lower tribunal shall retain jurisdiction to consider motions pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) and in conjunction with post-trial release pursuant to rule 9.140(g). While an appeal is pending, the movant under the rule 3.800(a) shall within 10 days of the date of any order granting relief under that rule file a copy of the order with the trial court.

The real problem is what is an "illegal sentence" which can be raised at any time under rule 3.800(a) and other sentencing errors which must be preserved by objection at the time of sentencing or within 30 days after rendition of the sentencing order by a motion pursuant to rule 3.800(b) and what is "fundamental error" as far as sentencing errors are concerned.

Respondent submits that the Fifth District analysis in Maddox

is correct, that there is no such thing as fundamental error as regards sentencing errors under the Criminal Appeal Reform Act there are only sentencing errors:

The net effect of the statute and the amended rules is that no sentencing error can be considered in direct a direct appeal unless the error has been "preserved" for review, i.e. the error has been presented to and ruled on by the trial court. This is true regardless of whether or not the error is apparent on the face of the record. And it applies across the board to defendant's who plead and to those who go to trial. As for the "fundamental error" error exception, it now appears clear, given the recent rule amendments, that "fundamental error" now longer exists in the sentencing context. The supreme court has recently distinguished sentencing error from trial error, and has found fundamental error only in the later context. *Summers v. State*, 684 So.2d 729, 729 (Fla. 1996) ("The trial court failure to comply with the statutory mandate is a sentencing error, not fundamental error, which must be raised on direct appeal or it is waived."); *Archer v. State*, 673 So.2d 17, 20 (Fla.) (Fundamental error is 'error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that the verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'"), cert. denied. ---U.S. ----, 117 S.Ct. 197, 136 L.Ed.2d 134 (1996). It appears that the supreme court has concluded that the notion of "fundamental error" should be limited to trial errors, not sentencing errors. The high court could have adopted a rule that paralleled the Criminal Appeal Reform Act, which would allow FOR review of fundamental errors in non plea cases, but the court did not do so and made it clear in its recent amendment to rule 9.140 that unpreserved sentencing errors cannot be raised on appeal.

The language of Rule 9.140(b)(2)(B)(iv) could not be clearer. And why should there be "fundamental error" where the courts have cre-

ated a "failsafe" procedural device to correct any sentencing error or omission at the trial court level? Elimination of the concept of "fundamental error" in sentencing will avoid the inconsistency and illogic that plagues the case law and will provide a much needed measure of clarity, certainty, and finality,. Even those who remain committed to the concept of "fundamental error" in the sentencing context would be hard pressed to identify errors in sentencing that are serious enough to require correction in the absence of an objection at the trial level. The supreme court has concluded that the only type of sentencing error that is even "illegal" is a sentence that exceeds the statutory maximum. *Davis v. State*, 661 So.2d 1193, 1196. Yet, under the current statutory sentencing scheme, a sentence can exceed the maximum if warranted by the guidelines score. s. 921.00124(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1996). Here we are dealing with a \$1 assessment and a \$5 overcharge. If an improper \$1 cost assessment is "fundamental error" then any sentencing error, no matter how minor, would be fundamental.

\* \* \* \*

....We also disagree that sentencing errors can be raised on direct appeal without preservation, simply because the sentence that results is illegal. (Citations omitted)....

\* \* \* \*

....Certainly there is little risk that a defendant will suffer an injustice because of this new procedure; if any aspect of a sentencing is "fundamentally" erroneous and if counsel fails to object or at sentencing or file a motion within thirty days in accordance with the rule, the remedy of ineffective assistance of counsel will be available. It is hard to imagine that the failure to preserve a sentencing error that would formally have been characterized as "fundamental" would not support an "ineffective assistance" claim.

Maddox, *supra.*, at 619-622.

Sentences which are truly "illegal" can be corrected at any-  
time by the trial court under Fla. R. Crim. 3.800(a):

A court may at anytime correct an illegal sen-  
tence imposed by it, or an incorrect calcula-  
tion in a sentencing guidelines score sheet.

(Emphasis added)

Other sentencing errors must be preserved by object at the time of  
sentencing or by motion filed within 30 days of the rendition of  
the sentencing order.

With respect to special conditions of probation, particu-  
larly the condition attacked in the instant appeal - payment for  
drug testing - that condition is not per se illegal. Its illegal-  
ity rests only in the fact that it was not orally pronounced at  
sentencing. as was stated in Larson v. State, 572 So.2d 1368, at  
1371 (Fla. 1991):

In the absence of a contemporaneous objection,  
we believe that a defendant may appeal a con-  
dition of probation only if it is so egregious  
as to be the equivalent of fundamental error.  
The mere fact that a certain condition of pro-  
bation is subject to reversal on appeal once  
a proper objection is raised at trial does not  
necessarily mean it is illegal for the pur-  
poses at hand.

The fact that this particular condition - payment for drug testing  
- was not orally pronounced at sentencing no longer deprives a  
defendant of bringing it to the trial court's attention, because,  
as stated earlier, he has 30 days from the date the order is ren-  
dered to file a motion to correct such a sentencing error.

Furthermore, most, if not all practitioners of criminal defense law are well aware of standard orders used by the courts in circuits in which they practice and are well aware of the common practice to of including certain special conditions which are not orally pronounced in these orders. These conditions are not per se illegal and any error in procedurally implementing them should be and can be readily attained by the process established by this Court under 3.800(b).

With regard to the statutory authorization of certain costs, if there is statutory authorization and it is simply not delineated then the cost is not illegal and the failure to preserved it by motion to correct sentencing error under 3.800(b) waives the issue. If the cost is illegal - has not statutory authorization - then the "illegal" sentence can be raised at any time under 3.800(a).

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing facts, argument, and citations of authority, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the modified certified question by holding that sentencing errors not raised at the trial level by object at the time of sentencing or within 30 days after rendition of the sentence cannot be raised on direct appeal.